INIS “TREY” GLENN, Il

NRECTOR

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

BOB RILEY
GOVERNOR

adem.alabama.gov
1400 Coliseum Blvd. 36110-2059 ¢ Post Office Box 301463
: Montgomery, Alabama 36130-1463
(334) 271-7700
FAX'(334) 271-7950

June 29, 2007
'CERTIFIED MAIL NO.: 7005 1820 0003 1877 5321

MR KIM TURNER )
HES AIR QUALITY SPECIALIST
CHEVRON TEXACO

935 GRAVIER ST

NEW ORLEANS LA 70112

Re. Consent Order 07-134-CAP _ '
Unocal Chunchula Gas Treating and Processmg Plant
Facility No.: 503-4005

Dear Mr. Turner:

Piease find enclosed ADEM Consent Order No. 07-134-CAP which requires
Chevron-Texaco Corporation to take certain actions in regard to alleged violations
of the Alabama Air Pollution Control Act. This Order has been issued with the
consent of Chévron-Texaco Corporation and the Department. Please refer to Order

ltem A., which requires that monetary penaltles be paid within 45 days of the date of
mwOMHV

If you have any questlons concernmg this matter, please contact Joel Sutton at.
(334) 271-7840 in Montgomery.

Sihcerely,

_ROKV. Gore, Chief

Air Division

Enclosure

- cc: Olivia Rowell, Office of General Counsel

Birmingham Branch Decatur Branch
110 Vulcan Road ) 2715 Sandlin Road, S.W.
Birmingham, AL 35209-4702 ’ Decatur, AL 35603-1333

(205) 942-6168

(205) 941-1603 (Fax) (256) 340-9359 (Fax)

Mobile Branch Mobile - Coastal
2204 Pefimeter Road " 4171 Commanders Drive
Mobile, AL 36615-1131 Mobile, AL 36615-1421
(251) 450-3400 (251) 432-6533
(251) 479-2593 (Fax) (251) 432-6598 (Fax)

(256) 353-1713




ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

- IN THE MATTER oF:

) .
Union Oil of California (Unocal), ) L IR
A subsidiary of Chevron-Texaco ) CONSENT ORDER NO. 07-134-CAP

- Chunchula Gas Plant ) ‘ ' '
Chunchula, Mobile County, Alabama )
_ _ L )
Air Facility ID No. 503-4005 )
PREAMBLE

This Special Order By 'Consent is made and entered into bjr the AlaBa‘ma D‘epartment of
Environmental Management (hereinafter “the . Departrnent”) and Union Oil of California_
(Unocal), 2 subsidiary. of Chet/ron—Texaco, ' (hereinafter; the “Permittee”j pursuant to the ,
' provisions of the Alabama 'Environmentat Management Aet Ala. Code §§ 22—22A-1 to 22-22A~vA
16(2006 Rplc. Vol.), the Alabama A1r Pollution Control Act, Ala. Lode Code §§22-28- 1 to 22-28-23, .
(2006 plc Vol. ) as amended and the regulatlons promulgated pursuant thereto,

STIPULA T TONS

1. | The Pennittee operates a gas processing, production', .and treatrn._ent facility (Air
* Facility ID No. 503-4005) near Chunchula; Mobile County, Alabama (nereinafter “the Facility”j. _
2, | Tne_Departrnent is a duly constituted department of the State of Alabama pursuant - -
| to0 Ala. Code §§ 22-22A-1 to 22-22A-16 (2006 Rple. Vol.). |

3. Pursuant to Ala. Code § 22—22A-‘4(n) (2006'Rp10 Vol) the Department is the
State air pollutlon control agency for the purposes of the federal Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 7401 |
to 7671q, as arnended In add1t1on the Department is authonzed to admlnlster and enforce the
" provisions of the Alabama Air Pollutlon Control Act, Ala. Code §§ 22-28-1 to 22—28-_23, (2006 |

Rple. Vol.).



44. , "l.“he Perm1ttee currently operates the F acﬂlty under the authorrty of the renewal
- Major Source Operating. Perrnlt No. 503- 4005 wh1ch was issued June 7, 2006 (heremafter “the_
Renewal Permit).

,5_. - Prior to June 7 2006, the Facﬂrty operated under the author1ty of the initial MaJor
Souree Operatmg Permit No. 503 4005, which was issued Apr1l 13 2000, (heremafter “the
Initial Permit”). ’
6. Prior to the issuance of the Renewal Permit, thls facility was a major source of |
. Hazardous A1r Pollutant (HAPs) since reported formaldehyde emissions exceeded the ten ton per
year HAPs maj or source threshold |

7. OnTF ebruary 23, 2006 the Permittee submltted a plan to the Department for the
purpose of reducmg Dotentral facility-wide formal dehyd emissions to less fhan ten tons per year
in order to be consrdered a synthetrc minor source of HAPs for the purposes of de-ermrnm the
appl1oab1l1ty of regulatlons contamed w1th1n 40 CFR 63. The proposed plan contamed three
parts ‘ . .

" a. The retirement of two 2500 BHP _engines (Unlt Nos. 42-801C and 42-801D in the
| Initial Permit) from service; | o i
b. The limitation of operating hours 'to a‘total.of 9QOO_hours per year for twoZ‘SOO_
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- BHP engines (”‘ﬂl Nos.

the Initial Perm1t) and, |

C. Formaldehyde emission l1m1ts based on AP 42 faetors for four (4) 2500 BHP

- engines and three 600 BHP engines (Umt Nos. 42-101A, 42- lOlB 42 101C, 42-
3 40lA 42- 40lB 42-801A, and 42-801B in both the Renewal Perm1t and the Initial

Permit).



8. | On March 2, 2006, the ‘Departtrient_accepted the Permittee’s proposal “and
| i'ncorporated it into the Faeility Compiressor Engines section of the Renewal Permitin addition to
teQuiring_ tnonthly emission calcuiations based on emission factors recoi'ded during an initial test.
for fotmaldehYde. |

9. The Renewal Permit required ‘an initial test to be conducted on these engines
within six months of the issuanc’e of the Renewal Permit.- : |

10. The required initial tests were perfortned during the week of December 12, 2006,
utilizing»EPA Method 323, ahd the test reports for Unit Nos. 42-'1401B, 42-401B, and 42-801B
were submitted in January 2007 without a comphance declaration or any other discussion of the
- results. .However', the restﬂté presente,d olearly indicated that the formaldehyde emissions from
these engines exceeded the hermitted limits. - |

11.  On February 7, 200«7,-the Department issued a Notice of Vtolation (NOV) to the
Permittee for exceedtng requested forma'ldehyde oermit limits for Unit Nos. 42-101B, 42-401B,
and 42-8'01B as identiﬁed.in both the Renewal Permit and the Initial Permit. This NOV
requested testlng of Unit Nos. 42-101A, 42 101C 42-401A, and 42- 801A as identified in both
the Renewal Permit and the Initial Permit smce these unlts were not tested in December 2()06

12. On March 6, 2007, the Permittee responded to the NOV by stating that the
‘requested emlsm()n limits were based on best available mformatton that the Permittee waq ~
- planning on install_ing catal'ytlc conv_erters on each unit with a formaldehyde limit, and that the
installation of these eatalytic cOnvertero should reduce formaldehyde emiosions so the emission:
limits would beoome‘ 'attainable. 'The’Petmittee also requelsted a delay‘ in the testing deadline

stated in the NOV until after the catalytic'-converters were installed.



13. The following. Leak Detection and Repair (LDAR) ‘regulations apply to the
Facility: - | | |

a. 40 CFR 63.760(g)(i) states:
After the compliance dates in spegiﬁed in [40 CFR 63.760(f)], ancillary
equipment. ahd cc‘)mpressors'that are sﬁbje‘:ctv to [40 CFR 63, Subpart HH]
and that are also’ subjéct‘ to and controiled under the provisions of 40
CFR. 60, Subpaft KKK‘,k are oﬁly required to comply with thé
requi’re‘ments‘ of 40 CFR’-60, Subpart KKK. . -

b. 40 CFR 63.769(b) states: |
This section [equipment leaks as outlined in 40 CFR 63.769] does not .-
apply to ancillary equipment or compressors for Which the owner or
operator is meeting tﬁe requirements of specified in [40 CFR 63, Subpart
‘HH]; or_ismeetin’g the requirements of 40 CFR 60, Subpart KKK.

c. 40 CFR 63.775(e)(2)(iv) states: | |
For each oner'or operator. subject to the requirements of 40 CFR ,
63.769, the owner or operator .shall comply with the reporﬁngl

requirements specified in 40 CFR 61.247 [which ‘are the same

exéeﬁt that the Periodic Rejports shall be submitted [60 days after fhe end
of the calendér period]. | |

d. 40 CFR 61 .247(‘b)(2)(vii) and 40 CFR 60.647(0)(2)(vii) state:
The facts that explain any delay of repairs é.nd, where appropriate, why a

process unit shutdown was technically infeasible.



14. The requirements of 40 CFR 60, Subpart KKK, apply to éffecfed facilities located -
at enshore natural gas proceseing :constrIicted:aftee January 20, 1984,
15. | The Cold Adsorpﬁdh ~Unit at this Facility is subject to the requirements of 40 CFR
60, Subpart KKK, since it meets the deﬁnitio’n of an affeeted facili‘ty. o |
16.  On February 1, 200_7, the'Permittee _sﬁbmitted the second half 2006 LDAR report
for the ‘Facility. This. repox;t*contained numerous vminor deﬁeieﬁcies and also. lacked a
| expl(_anation. as :.requ'ired by 40' CFR 160.647(c)(2)(vii) for kequipmentv leaks which were n‘ot.
repaired during the monitorihg period. The omiesion of this explanation reqﬁired by 40 CFR
60.647(c)(2)(vii) censtitutes- a violation of the requirements of both 40 CFR 60, Subpart KKK
and 40 CFR 63, Subpart HE, for three valves. o
| 17.  On February 15, 2007, Department Personnel Visited the Facility and discussed
the deﬁcienciesi _in the LDA R report with the Plant Engineer. |
18.  The Permi-ttee consents to abide by fhe, ferms >of the following Order and to pay
the civil penalty assessed'herein. ’ |
19. .- The Department has agreed te_the-terrns of‘this Order in an effort to resolve the
alleged Viola_tions cited herein without the unwarranted _expenditure Qf State resources in further
proseouting the above alleged violations. The Departme'nt ".has determined that the terme

contemplated in this Order are in the best interests of the citizens of Alabama.




| CONTENTIONS ‘

20. - Pursuant to _A_la ‘Code § 22-22A-5(18)¢ (2006 Rple. Vol.), in determining the -
‘amount of any penalty., the Dep‘artment' must gii/el consideratiOn to the seriousness of the
violation, including .any irreparable harm to the environment and any threat to the health or
safety of the public; the standard of care manifested by sucl1 person; the economic benefit which
delayed compliance may confer upon such person; the‘nature, extent and degree of success of
such person's efforts'to rninimize or rn'itiéate the’effects of such Violation upon the environrnent; |
such persons history of prev1ous Violations and. the ability of suc person to pay such penalty
Any civil penalty assessed pursuant to this authority shall -not be less tllan $100.00 or.exceed -
$25,000.00 for each yiOlatioh, provided however, that the total penalty'assessed .in an ortler
1ssuefl by the nepartrnent shall not exceed $250 OO0.00. Each dai such violation continues shall
eonstrtute a senarate violation. In arriving at this civil penalty, the Denartment has consrdered'
the following.

A.  SERIOUSNESS OF THE ‘VIOLATIONS: .(l) The,» exceedence of the
formaldehycle e_mission limits for the three tested units and the admitted failure for the remaining
four units constitutes a Violation of permit conclitions. These permit conditions were requested

. by the facility in order to become a synthetic minor source of HAPs. (2) Th.e. second half 2006
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violation of 40 CFR 60, Subpart KKK. (3) The Department is not aware of any irreparable harm
to the environment. |
B. THE STANDARD OF CARE: The Permittee did not eXhlblt a standard of care

commensurate with applicable regulatory requ1rements



C. ECONOMIC _BENEFIT “WHICH DELAYED COMPLIANCE MAY HAVE
-CONFERRED: The Departmenf is unaware of any evidence Ihaf either of these violations
resulted in 51gn1ﬁcant economic beneﬁt
- D. EFFORTS TO MINIMIZE OR MITIGATE THE EFFECTS OF THE VIOLATION
UPON THE ENVIRONMENT: (1) .The Permittee has prosted to install catalytic converter's on - |
:each of the uniIs subject- to formaIdehyde emission_linIits. - (2) There is no eViden.ce. that the
reporting' iseues Iesulted in any harm to the enViromnenI | |
E. HISTORY OF. PREVIOUS VIOLATIONS The Facility was issued a Warning Letter
1n 2004 concerning 40 CFR 63, Subpart HH A
F. THE ABILITY TO PAY: The Permittee has not alleged -an inability to pay the civil
penalty. .. | - |
'G. OTHER FACTORS: It should be noted :fhet this Special Order by Consent is a
negotiatecI’ settIerheht and,‘therefore, the Department has compfomised the amount ef the penalty
it believes is warranIed m tIIis matIer irI the spirit of eooperation and the desire to fesolve this

matter amicably, without incurring the unwarranted expense of litigation. -

ORDER
| THEREFORE, the Permittee, along with the Departmept{ desires to resolve and settle the
cemplianee issues cited above. ‘The Department has earefully considered the facts avail'able to_It
and has considered the six penalty factors enumefated in Ala. Code § .22-222AA-5(1 8)c (2006 Rplc..‘
Vol.), as well as .t-hen'eed for timely and effective enforcement, and the DeparIm’enf believes that

the fbllowing conditions are appropriate to-address the violations alle-ged. herein. Therefere,, the



Department and the Perrnittee agree to-enter info this O.RDER with the following terms and -
conditions: o

A. The Permittee agrees to pay to the bepartment- a civil. penalty in the amount of
$15,000 in -sAettlement of the r/'iolations alleged herein. within forty-five days from the effective
date of this Consent Order. - Failure to nay the civil penalty within forty-ﬂve days‘gfror‘n the
effective date may result in the Department’s filing a civil .act_ion in the-'CircuitAcour't of
' Montgomery County to recover the civil penalty.

B. » _The Perm‘ittee agrees to: (1) Install c_atalytic converters on all enginevs covered by
“the Facility Compressor Engines Section of the Renewal Permit prior to June 15, 2007, the
comipliance date for 40 CFR 63, Subpart ZZZ_Z; (2) Properly maintain the catalyst according to
manufacturer’s recommendations; (3) Monitor those ':n_arameters set by the Departnient ‘as
indicative of the catalyst funetioning in an-effective manner; and, (4) Otherwise operate these
engines in aeeordance with aceeptable pra'ctices for minimizing air.emissions.

C. | ‘The Permittee agrees that all penalties due pnr'suant to tnis Consent Order shall be
rnade payable to the Alabama Department of Environmental Management by certified or
cashier’s cneck- and shall be remitted to:

Office of General Counsel
Alabama Department of Environmental Management

P.O. Rox 301463

Montgomery, Alabama 36130- 1463
D. The Permlttee agrees to comply w1th all requn*ements of ‘ADEM Administrative
' _Code div. 335 3 and Major Source Operatmg Permit No. 503—4005 immediately upon the'
effectrve date of this Order and cont1nu1ng each and every day thereafter

E. The partles agree that thls Consent Order shall apply to and be b1nd1ng upon both_

parties, their directors, officers, and all persons or entities acting under or for them. Each



signatory to this Cénsént Order c_ertiﬁes that hev or she is fully authorized by the party he or she
represents to enter into the terms anci conditions of t}fis Consent Or&er, to exe(.:uAte't.he, Conser;t
Order on behalf of the party represented, and fo legally.biﬁd such party. -

F. The partieé agree that, subject to 'Athe terms of fhe,se presents and subject to
provisions oth,érwis‘e prbvided by statute, this Conseﬁt Order is intendéd to. .operat_e‘as a '_fulli
resolution of the violations which are.cited in this Consent Order.

G. The Permittee agrees-that it is not relieved from a'ny'.liab_ility .if it fails to comply
with any provision of this Consent Order.

H. For purposes of this Consent Order ohly,' the Permittee agrees that the Department
may properly. bring an abtion’ to compel compliancé’ with the terms and conditions contained
herein in the Circuit Court of Montgoniery County. The”Permitteg also agfees thét in any éction
brought by the Department to c'omﬁel compliance with: the t'érms of this Agréement, the
Permittee shall belimited to thé defenses of Force Majeure, compliance with thié Agreement
_and physical. ifnpossibility,. A Force Majéure is deﬁned as any event arising from causes that are
not foreseéqble and are beyond the reasonable cdntrol of the Permitteé, including its contractors .
~and consultanfs, which could not be overcomé by due diligence (i.e., causes which could ﬁave. |
been overcome or avoided by 'thé excrciée of 'due diligence will not be .considered to have been
beyond the reasonable control o_f the Permittee) and which delays Qr-prévents perforr‘nahce by a
date r¢quiréd by t_he Consent Order. Events such as unahticipated or increased -costs Qf _
performance, changed.,économic circumstances, normal precipitation everits‘, or failure to obtain.
'federal, étate, or local'v permits shall .not constitute Force Majeure. .Any requesf for a
modification of va _déadline must be- accompanied by the reasons (including docUmeﬁfation) for

- each extension and the proposed extension time. This information shall be submitted to the



Oepartmenr a minimum of ten working days prior to the orieginalv anticipafted completion ‘date.. If
thevDepartnrent, after review of the extension request, ﬁnds the Wbrk was delayed because of
corlditiqrrs beyond the control and without the feult of the Permittee, the Departmerrt may extend
the time as justified by the circumstances. The Departrnent may also grant any other additional
time extension as justified by the circumstances, but it is nd‘r dbligated to do so.

L | The Department"and' the Permittee agree that the sole purpose of rhis Consent
Order is te._ res.olve and dispose of aillvallegations and contentions stated herein‘ cor—icerning the
factual circumstances referenced Irerein." Should additional facts~. and circumstances. be
discovered in the future concerning the facility »which wodl_d cdnstitute possible Vidla:dons not
addressed in this Consent Order, then such future violations may be addressed in Orders as may

be issued by the Director, litigation initiated by the Depattment, or such other enforcement aetron
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as maj ;Fpropr'iare, and the Permittee shall not o,ject'do uch future orders; htrgatron or
enforcement actien based on the issuance of this Consent Order if future orders, 'litigati'on- or
<other enforcement action address new.matters not ralsed in this Consent Order

I The Department and the Permittee agree that th1s Consent Order shall be

considered final and effective immediately upon signature of all parties. This Consent Order

shall not be appealable, and the Permittee does hereby waive any hearing on the terms and

conditions of samie.

K. The Department aﬁd the Perrnittee .agree' that this Order shall .noAt affect the
Permittee’ s obhgatron to comply with any Federal State, or local laws or regula’uons

L. The Depattment and the Permittee agree that final approval and entry into this
Order are subject to the requirements that the Department give notice of proposed Orders to the

public, and that the public have at least thirty deys within which to comment on the Order.

10



M.  The Department and the Permitfee agree that, should any provision of this Order
be declared by' a court of competérﬁ jurisdiction or the Environmental Management Commissiqn
to be inconsistent Wi’[h Federal or Sf_ate law and therefore: uneﬁforceable,'. the remaining
provisions hexedf shall remain in fuil forge and effect. “

: N. The Department and the Permittee agree that any modiﬁcations of this Order
.must be agréed to in writing signed by both parties.

0. ~ The Department and the Permittee agree thaf, except as otherwise set forth herein,
this Order is not and shall not be interpreted to be a permit or modification -of an éxisting permit
undér Federal, State or lopal law, and shall not be coﬁstrﬁed to waive or relieve the Permittee of
its obli.g;c}tionsv to comply in the future Wiﬂ;l any pérmit. |

Executed in duplicate, with each part being an original. -

Union Oil of Ca'i_ifornia,. (Unocai) ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF
A subsidiary of Chevron-Texaco. bNV[RONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
Aoy Wloszos
oo~ s, s
: (Slél'a{ure oﬂ /Jfrlzed Representative) e Onis “Trey” Glenn, III
‘ Director
Cafq 7. CAmssm | £-2907
(Printed Name) ' (Date) '
QPM 4(—wv\ M Oaacye,k
(Printed Title)
s / ¥ { o1
(Date) S
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